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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: My name is

          3  Christine Quinn, and I am Chair of the City

          4  Council's Health Committee. I am joined today by

          5  Council Member Helen Sears of Queens, also a member

          6  of the Health Committee. Council Member Yvette

          7  Clarke, who is a member of the Health Committee, is

          8  not with us at this second because she is next door

          9  chairing the Fire and Criminal Justice Committee.

         10  So, she will be in when we need to vote.

         11                 And I wanted you to know, we received

         12  a call from Council Member Vann. There was an

         13  emergency in his district, and he'll be unable to

         14  attend today, but wanted to extend his apologies to

         15  the Committee and to the folks who are here today.

         16                 Today we are holding a hearing on two

         17  resolutions, Resolution 92-A and Resolution 66-A.

         18                 Both of these resolutions deal with

         19  the issue of emergency contraception. The City

         20  Council over the past two years has taken a very

         21  aggressive approach to try and increase the

         22  availability of emergency contraception in the five

         23  boroughs.

         24                 Emergency contraception is a

         25  high-dose birth control pill, which if taken within
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          2  72 hours of sexual assault or unprotected sex or sex

          3  where the former birth control has failed, can 89

          4  percent of the time prevent unintended and unwanted

          5  pregnancies from occurring, and also can obviously

          6  significantly reduce the number of abortions that

          7  occur in this City, State and Country. This is a

          8  particularly important fact, given that New York

          9  State is the State that has the second highest

         10  number of abortions of any other state in the

         11  country.

         12                 Last year the City Council conducted

         13  an investigation and found that there was an

         14  incredibly unacceptable level of pharmacies in the

         15  City who carried emergency contraception. But in

         16  some boroughs, a year and a half ago, it was as low

         17  as 30 percent in Queens. Only 30 percent of the

         18  pharmacies we surveyed a year and a half ago,

         19  stocked emergency contraception.

         20                 In response to that and other

         21  information that was brought to us by women's health

         22  and reproductive rights advocates, the Council

         23  passed a package of legislation: One, a bill that

         24  required that all emergency rooms offer women who

         25  have been raped or sexually assaulted emergency
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          2  contraception.

          3                 Two, a bill that required that all of

          4  the City's sexually transmitted disease clinics

          5  carry and offer emergency contraception, and I have

          6  to say with both of those bills, we were shocked

          7  that there weren't laws requiring both of those

          8  things. And I have to admit, I just assumed that the

          9  STD clinics did offer emergency contraception,

         10  because it seems completely illogical and slightly

         11  absurd that they hadn't.

         12                 We also passed a law, Local Law 25

         13  that requires that pharmacies that do not stock

         14  emergency contraception post the signage that says

         15  that they do not.

         16                 The point of the signage is so people

         17  in general know what stores are fully supporting

         18  women's health options, so they can support and

         19  patronize stores that are fully there for women's

         20  health care, but more importantly, that women know

         21  where, when they have a very short time frame to get

         22  EC, where they can go and get it, and they don't

         23  waste precious hours searching for the pharmacy in

         24  their neighborhood, or do they have to engage in a

         25  potentially embarrassing conversation with people
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          2  behind the pharmacy counter. And I think we've all

          3  had that experience where you've asked if your

          4  prescription was there and the pharmacist

          5  inappropriately yells out that your bla-bla-bla is

          6  right here. That's never okay. It's one thing if

          7  it's your allergy pills, it's a completely different

          8  thing if it's a situation where a woman is seeking

          9  out emergency contraception.

         10                 Our Investigations Committee chaired

         11  by Eric Gioia and our staff did another report which

         12  we released on Sunday, which we have copies of here

         13  if anyone would like, that showed that as a result

         14  of this package of legislation, all of the work of

         15  the Reproductive rights community in this City, the

         16  number of pharmacies who now know about emergency

         17  contraception and carry it is improving, that more

         18  and more pharmacies are carrying emergency

         19  contraception, and this report showed that only 25

         20  percent of the pharmacies Citywide did not stock

         21  emergency contraception.

         22                 Kerri, what was the overall number in

         23  the first report?

         24                 MS. SANDER: Twenty-five percent.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: That's Kerri
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          2  Sander, who did the reports, who everybody should

          3  thank, as opposed to me just summing them up. But

          4  this report showed 25 percent of the pharmacies

          5  surveyed did not stock emergency contraception. The

          6  first report showed 55 percent. So, we're really

          7  seeing that our efforts are working, that education

          8  and governmental impact is increasing the

          9  availability and accessibility of emergency

         10  contraception in our City.

         11                 And more importantly, of the

         12  pharmacies we identified the last time that didn't

         13  stock it, over 70 percent of those now do, which

         14  really shows that if you get information to these

         15  businesses, explain to them how important this is

         16  for women, they will respond.

         17                 That's why on Sunday when we released

         18  this report, we were particularly critical of the

         19  Department of Consumer Affairs, who has not been

         20  enforcing Local Law 25. Of the pharmacies we

         21  identified that did not, told us over the phone they

         22  did not stock emergency contraception, when we went

         23  and visited them, none of those had signs up.

         24                 According to the Mayor's Management

         25  Report, the Department of Consumer Affairs has not
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          2  issued one violation of Local Law 25, and we have

          3  clearly identified a number of places that are in

          4  Local Law 25.

          5                 In response to our report, the

          6  Department of Consumer Affairs said that education

          7  was more important than signs, which seems to be a

          8  new outlook for the Bloomberg Administration. That

          9  said we agree that education is more important than

         10  signs. That's why we think the letters we sent to

         11  the pharmacies, after last year's report, were part

         12  of why the signs, those places, 71 percent now stock

         13  EC.

         14                 We're anxious to hear from the

         15  Department of Consumer Affairs what exactly their

         16  educational efforts have been.

         17                 Today's two specific resolutions

         18  intersect very much with this issue of

         19  accessibility, and speaks to the issue of EC being

         20  made over the counter, available over the counter.

         21  Presently you have to have a prescription to be able

         22  to access it, but whether it's over the counter or

         23  by prescription only, we need pharmacies to have it.

         24  Today's hearing is very timely, because on or around

         25  the 20th of February, the United States Federal Drug
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          2  Administration is going to be ruling on whether or

          3  not EC should be made over the counter.

          4                 Reso 92-A was introduced by Council

          5  Member Yassky, and I'm going to let him speak to

          6  that. Just before that occurs, I just want to say

          7  Reso 66-A, which we'll be voting on today, is kind

          8  of our fall-back resolution. In fact, the federal

          9  government does not listen to us and everyone else,

         10  what we could then look to would be much better if

         11  this happens on a federal level, New York State

         12  could then issue its own rule, law requirement, and

         13  allow EC to be offered over the counter in New York

         14  State.

         15                 The State Assembly has already passed

         16  a bill to that effect. We are urging in our

         17  resolution that the Senate passed Intro. 3339

         18  companion bill, that would allow it to be sold over

         19  the counter in New York State, but much more

         20  importantly is the battle on the federal level.

         21                 That said, I just want to say we've

         22  been joined by the Minority Leader, a member of the

         23  Committee from Staten Island, Council Member James

         24  Oddo, Committee member Council Member Kendall

         25  Stewart, the Chair of our Committee on Immigration
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          2  and Immigrants Issues, and also the sponsor and

          3  chair of our Waterfronts Committee, Council Member

          4  David Yassky, who is now going to speak to us about

          5  Resolution 92-A.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

          7  Chair Quinn. Thank you so much for holding this

          8  hearing for me to appear or to testify, or to join

          9  you for it.

         10                 I think this is a fundamental issue

         11  that you are addressing today. First, I want to

         12  commend you on your report, and the progress,

         13  frankly, that you have engendered in the last two

         14  years in the City. But we need to go further.

         15  Emergency contraception needs to be available over

         16  the counter. Control over fertility is a fundamental

         17  prerequisite for equality. That is one of the

         18  lessons of the last 30 years, and now that the

         19  technology permits us to go further, permits women

         20  to use contraception after the fact, there is no

         21  reason not to make it available over the counter.

         22                 So, I thank you, and I look forward

         23  to the hearing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         25                 I just want to say, the importance of
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          2  Reso 92-A and FDA approval is very important in

          3  general, because also on the State level, the State

          4  doesn't have the power to go as far as the FDA does,

          5  and although the easy way to describe what Reso 66-A

          6  calls for is over the counter. But really what it

          7  will end up being, is it would allow nurses and

          8  pharmacists to dispense EC to women without a

          9  patient-specific prescription, so you would kind of

         10  have a situation where you would have a standing

         11  prescription. So, it's a good and creative step, but

         12  it's not at all as far-reaching as what Council

         13  Member Yassky's resolution is calling for and, in

         14  fact, the advisory panels to the FDA have

         15  unanimously called for.

         16                 That said, we're going to call up the

         17  first panel, which is a representative from NARAL, a

         18  representative from Planned Parenthood, a

         19  representative from the New York Civil Liberties

         20  Union.

         21                 I just want to say again, if folks

         22  have not signed in and would like to testify, if

         23  they could please do that.

         24                 Aside from these folks, we have the

         25  National Institute, the National Latina Institute
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          2  for Reproductive Health signed up. We may be joined

          3  by a representative of New York State Comptroller

          4  Alan Hevesi's office. Those are the only witnesses

          5  we have. So, if you'd like to testify and you

          6  haven't signed up, please do it soon because we'll

          7  be closing the sign-up time very soon.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 Please identify yourself for the

         10  record, in whatever order you guys want to go in.

         11                 MS. CARTER: Hello. I'm Mary Alice

         12  Carter, and I'm Director of Advocacy Programs with

         13  NARAL Pro-Choice New York, and I am here

         14  representing NARAL Pro-Choice New York and our

         15  Emergency Contraception Access Campaign.

         16                 I'd like to thank Chairwoman Quinn

         17  and Council Member Yassky and their staff for their

         18  extraordinary work that they have done on this

         19  critical issue, and for giving me the opportunity to

         20  speak to the Committee on Health about the basic

         21  safe and effective method of preventing pregnancy

         22  after unprotected sex or in cases of sexual assault

         23  or emergency contraception, as we know.

         24                 As we know, EC may be one of the most

         25  powerful reproductive health technologies available
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          2  to women today. As Chairwoman Quinn spoke of

          3  already, taken within 72 hours of unprotected sex,

          4  EC can reduce the risk of pregnancy by 75 to 89

          5  percent. And within 24 hours of unprotected sex, it

          6  increases to seven times more effective.

          7                 No one in this room can reiterate the

          8  point enough, and I'm sure we will all continue to

          9  do so, that in order for women to prevent unintended

         10  pregnancy, she must have access to EC within its

         11  limited time frame for effectiveness and the two

         12  resolutions we discuss today are a step towards

         13  making that possible.

         14                 For this reason alone, one of the

         15  main reasons alone that this stops women from

         16  getting this medication is the unnecessary barriers,

         17  such as a doctor's visit, lack of regular health

         18  care, or lack of health insurance, which all stops

         19  them from accessing EC.

         20                 There are, however, other compelling

         21  reasons why the Council must advocate for FDA

         22  approval of plan B and swift action by the New York

         23  State Senate to make EC available to pharmacies

         24  across the state.

         25                 New York State again is, as
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          2  Chairwoman Quinn discussed, has the dubious

          3  distinction of having one of the highest abortion

          4  rates in the country, second only to DC in per

          5  capita abortions. Wider access to EC could reduce

          6  the number of unintended pregnancies, and therefore

          7  cut the amount of abortions in half.

          8                 Reducing unintended pregnancies and

          9  abortions should be something that both sides of

         10  this issue, including our republican administration

         11  and senate, can all agree on.

         12                 As we've learned, the FDA advisory

         13  committees did meet in mid-December and agreed that

         14  Plan B is safe enough for over-the-counter use, and

         15  does not lead to a substitution of EC as a regular

         16  contraceptive method.

         17                 The FDA Advisory Committee based its

         18  overwhelming support for over-the-counter Plan B on

         19  evidence, fact, and clinical expertise.

         20                 We hope, and we expect, that the FDA

         21  Commissioner Mark McClellan will make a

         22  science-based decision that follows the lead of

         23  medical expert on his own advisory committees.

         24                 However, should politics trump

         25  science at the national level, the New York State

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  Senate must act quickly to pass S.3339, legislation

          3  that would allow direct distribution of EC by

          4  trained pharmacists and registered nurses.

          5                 By passing this legislation, New York

          6  would join Alaska, California, Hawaii, New Mexico,

          7  and Washington State in allowing women to

          8  significantly increase her chance to prevent

          9  unintended pregnancy by accessing EC directly

         10  through pharmacies.

         11                 Pharmacies are located in urban and

         12  rural areas, open late at night on holidays and on

         13  weekends, providing women with optimal EC access

         14  when and where they may need it.

         15                 The Council's recent efforts to

         16  ensure that pharmacies are complying with Local Law

         17  25, resulting in 71 percent of pharmacies now

         18  stocking EC, which is incredible, indicate that

         19  pharmacies are ideal venues for broadening access to

         20  EC, and when pharmacists are educated about its

         21  safety, efficacy and necessity.

         22                 The City Council must be applauded

         23  for its willingness to expand access to EC through

         24  the introduction of Resolutions 92-A and 66-A.

         25                 NARAL Pro-Choice New York and the
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          2  Emergency Contraception Access Campaign, a statewide

          3  coalition of professionals, health care advocates,

          4  community organizations that are committed to

          5  expanding EC access, urge the City Council to pass

          6  this innovative package of resolutions that would

          7  ensure that women have unfettered access to EC.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you. I just

         10  want to say we seem to have had a women's health

         11  problem here, in that the glasses broke right before

         12  the testimony here. Sorry about that. Maybe we can

         13  get you a paperclip.

         14                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: If you will just not

         15  mind if I hold them?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Okay. But just

         17  before the hearing goes on, I want to make a

         18  slightly unrelated positive women's health

         19  announcement, which is I want to just make sure

         20  everybody in the Committee and the room knows that

         21  yesterday Council Member Oddo was part of a very

         22  important announcement with the University of Staten

         23  Island, which is that they have announced a new

         24  digital mammography imaging machine, which would be

         25  great in any borough, but is particularly
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          2  significant because Staten Island of all the

          3  boroughs has the least, in any way you count it,

          4  proportionately per capita, per whatever, least

          5  amount of mammography services and no Health and

          6  Hospitals Corporation free mammography services on

          7  the borough at all. And having this new technology

          8  there is really a major advance for women. And I

          9  know the announcement with Council Member Oddo and

         10  the Mayor yesterday, but if I had to put my money on

         11  who really made it happen, it would be the real

         12  republican, and I will leave it at that.

         13                 So, I just wanted to applaud Council

         14  Member Oddo for that victory for the women of Staten

         15  Island.

         16                 Go right ahead.

         17                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: Good morning. I'm a

         18  resident of Staten Island, so I thank you very much.

         19  And if you'll all just be a little patient, I am

         20  blind without my glasses.

         21                 Good morning. My name is Norma

         22  Leibowitz, and I am the Associate Vice President for

         23  Clinical Operations at Planned Parenthood of New

         24  York City. I am here today on behalf of Joan Malin,

         25  our President and CEO.
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          2                 Planned Parenthood respectfully

          3  submits this testimony to strongly endorse approval

          4  of the petition before the United States Food and

          5  Drug Administration, to allow the emergency

          6  contraception pills Plan B to be sold over the

          7  counter.

          8                 Over-the-counter availability is the

          9  only way to ensure true access to emergency

         10  contraception, EC, for the many women who need it.

         11  We especially thank Council Member Christine Quinn,

         12  Chair of the Health Committee, for holding this

         13  hearing, and we also thank all Council members for

         14  being here today.

         15                 As you are all acutely aware,

         16  unintended pregnancy is a major public health

         17  problem in the United States. Almost half of the

         18  nearly 6 million pregnancies in the US each year are

         19  unintended, and among teams eight in ten pregnancies

         20  are not intended.

         21                 Approximately half of all women

         22  between the ages of 15 and 44, have had at least one

         23  pregnancy that was not planned. Resolution 92. As

         24  you know, in December, the Reproductive Health Drugs

         25  Advisory Committee and the Non-prescription Drugs
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          2  Advisory Committee voted overwhelmingly in favor of

          3  permitting Plan B to be sold over the counter.

          4                 In reaching this conclusion, the

          5  Joint Advisory Panel considered extensive scientific

          6  and social science evidence, showing that the drug

          7  is safe and effective and that it would serve the

          8  public health.

          9                 Furthermore, the advisory panel

         10  unanimously agreed that Plan B was safe for use in a

         11  non-prescription setting, and that there was no

         12  evidence that over-the-counter availability leads

         13  people to substitute EC for regular use of other

         14  contraceptive methods.

         15                 Ready availability of this product

         16  will contribute greatly to a reduction in our

         17  nation's high rate of unintended pregnancies and

         18  reduce the need for abortions.

         19                 Planned Parenthood speaks from

         20  experience. For many years we have served as the

         21  front line EC resource in New York City, counseling

         22  and educating women about emergency contraception,

         23  as well as providing EC at our health centers.

         24                 Our front-line experience illustrates

         25  the acute need for ready access. Two years ago, our
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          2  Manhattan Health Center previously opened Tuesdays

          3  through Saturdays, piloted a program called EC

          4  Mondays, opening on Monday for EC visits only.

          5                 The response was overwhelming. During

          6  an average month in 2002, 33 percent of our EC

          7  visits occurred on this single day of the week.

          8                 We continue to provide EC on a

          9  walk-in basis six days a week, but the question

         10  should be asked, what makes Monday unique? And the

         11  answer is simple. On Sunday, a woman will find

         12  virtually nowhere to go to get emergency

         13  contraception pills, unless she already has a

         14  prescription. Even then she has to find a pharmacy

         15  that actually stocks EC, and as we all know, this is

         16  not an easy task.

         17                 The demand for emergency

         18  contraception continues to grow, and Planned

         19  Parenthood remains a primary provider.

         20                 In 2003, on average we saw about 500

         21  clients a month for EC, up from 450 a month in 2002.

         22  Thanks to the City Council, access to EC has been

         23  expanded further, but even this expansion is not

         24  enough. The buy prescription only designation of EC

         25  is the primary barrier to access. Yet, this
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          2  prescription only designation is unwarranted.

          3                 Plan B meets all existing FDA

          4  criteria for over-the-counter designation. In order

          5  for a drug to receive over-the-counter designation,

          6  the benefits must outweigh the risks. There must be

          7  minimal potential for misuse and abuse. Consumers

          8  must be able to use it for a self-diagnosed

          9  condition, and a health care provider cannot be

         10  needed for safe and effective use.

         11                 In addition, all drugs must be

         12  appropriately labeled. Plan B easily satisfies all

         13  these requirements. The product is safe and

         14  effective. Drug dosage is consistent across

         15  populations. There are no known contraindications.

         16  There is no potential for addiction, and the reason

         17  for drug selection is self-diagnosable.

         18                 EC should be taken within 120 hours

         19  of unprotected intercourse to prevent a pregnancy,

         20  but the sooner, the more effective in preventing.

         21                 According to the FDA, EC works by

         22  delaying ovulation, or preventing an egg from being

         23  fertilized or implanted onto the uterine wall.

         24                 EC is most effective if the first

         25  dose is taken within 24 hours after unprotected sex.
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          2  However, it can be effective up five days after

          3  intercourse. If EC is taken within 24 hours, it can

          4  be 95 percent effective. If taken within 72 hours,

          5  it can reduce the risk of pregnancy by 75 to 89

          6  percent. The sooner EC is taken, the greater its

          7  effectiveness in preventing a pregnancy from

          8  occurring.

          9                 Right now, only physicians, midwives

         10  and nurse practitioners are authorized by New York

         11  State to write prescriptions for emergency

         12  contraception. These providers are available only

         13  for a limited period of time during the work week,

         14  and usually require scheduled appointments.

         15                 Because we know that the sooner a

         16  woman takes EC the greater its efficacy, we know

         17  this is not an effective access model.

         18                 Over-the-counter availability will

         19  reduce time and barriers associated with a clinic

         20  and enhance the likelihood of more timely initiation

         21  of the method, therefore increasing its efficacy.

         22                 In light of the safety and efficacy

         23  of Plan B, our firsthanded experience as a major

         24  provider in New York City, Planned Parenthood of New

         25  York City strongly endorses City Council Resolution
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          2  92, and urge the FDA to approve the petition to

          3  allow Plan B to be sold over the counter.

          4                 Resolution 66. Planned Parenthood

          5  also strongly supports Resolution 66, and thanks the

          6  many Council members who have introduced it.

          7                 This resolution urges the New York

          8  State Senate to adopt the Unintended Pregnancy

          9  Prevention Act, S.3339. This bill, which already

         10  passed overwhelmingly in the New York State

         11  Assembly, would allow women to get EC directly from

         12  registered nurses and pharmacists licensed by the

         13  State of New York.

         14                 Should the FDA fail to approve Plan B

         15  for over-the-counter status, the desperate need for

         16  expanded access to EC in New York will remain. And

         17  even if the FDA approves Plan B for over-the-counter

         18  status, the other dedicated emergency contraception

         19  product Preven, will still be available by

         20  prescription only.

         21                 Currently Medicaid covers only

         22  Preven. In addition to low-income women with health

         23  insurance, the over-the-counter products may be cost

         24  prohibitive.

         25                 For example, the prescription
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          2  emergency contraception known as Preven, may be

          3  purchased with a $5 or $10 copay where the

          4  over-the-counter product may cost about $30. So,

          5  even if the FDA grants over-the-counter status to

          6  Plan B, expanded access to EC through S.3339 remains

          7  critical for these women.

          8                 This bill would authorize nurses and

          9  pharmacists to dispense emergency contraception,

         10  using non-patient specific regimens from a licensed

         11  physician, certified nurse practitioner or a

         12  licensed midwife.

         13                 By permitting pharmacists and RNs to

         14  dispense, many of the barriers that women face

         15  trying to get access would be significantly reduced.

         16                 Direct access to EC from RNs and

         17  pharmacists, without first getting a prescription,

         18  would significantly decrease the barriers women

         19  face, trying to get access to EC and therefore

         20  reducing the number of unintended pregnancies in New

         21  York. RNs are on-site at local community-based

         22  health centers, at Family Planning Clinics, and even

         23  at doctors' offices, where it would be very

         24  difficult to see the doctor on short notice.

         25                 New York State has granted such
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          2  authority to RNs before. Examples include,

          3  authorization to administer immunizations and

          4  medications for certain allergic reactions.

          5                 Pharmacists are more accessible than

          6  those who are currently authorized to write

          7  prescriptions for EC. This is true because the

          8  locations in which pharmacists frequently work

          9  include local pharmacies that are easy to get to,

         10  and because some stores that have pharmacies stay

         11  open 24 hours a day, weekends included.

         12                 The pharmacists' model comes from

         13  highly successful experiences over the last few

         14  years in other states. Washington State was the

         15  first state to permit women to access EC directly

         16  from pharmacists. In Washington State, pilot

         17  projects were extremely successful. They were able

         18  to document significantly greater access to EC.

         19                 Also 5,000 EC regimens were

         20  dispensed. And of the women who received them from a

         21  pharmacist, 15 percent chose a pharmacy because they

         22  did not have a regular care provider.

         23                 Forty-eight percent obtained EC after

         24  6:00 p.m. on a weeknight or on a weekend. And 55

         25  percent said they would have waited to see if they
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          2  were pregnant.

          3                 Based on the results of the pilot

          4  project, Washington State implemented this policy

          5  statewide. Five states now permit women to access EC

          6  directly from pharmacists, and an additional eight

          7  states have similar legislation pending. For these

          8  reasons, Planned Parenthood of New York City

          9  strongly supports City Council Resolution 66, urging

         10  the New York State Senate to adopt the unintended

         11  Pregnancy Prevention Act, S.3339. Thank you, again,

         12  for the opportunity to testify.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         14                 If I could just ask, after this panel

         15  we're going to hear from the National Latina

         16  Institute for Reproductive Health. I don't know if

         17  anyone from Comptroller Hevesi's Office has showed

         18  up. If you have, if you could just let Judith

         19  MacFarlane know that. If not, then that will be our

         20  last witness after the panel.

         21                 Good morning. Thank you.

         22                 MS. SCHISSEL: Good morning. My name

         23  is Anna Schissel, I am staff attorney for the

         24  Reproductive Rights Project of the New York Civil

         25  Liberties Union.
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          2                 The NYCLU is the New York State

          3  affiliate of the American Civil Liberties Union, and

          4  has approximately 35,000 members across New York

          5  State.

          6                 For more than three decades, the

          7  NYCLU has been at the forefront of advocating and

          8  litigating for women's rights to act as

          9  comprehensive reproductive health care in New York

         10  State.

         11                 I would first like to thank

         12  Chairwoman Quinn, and Council Members Yassky, Gioia,

         13  Moskowitz and Clarke, as well as all of the other

         14  Council members who have given their support to the

         15  resolutions you're considering today, for their

         16  leadership in ensuring that women in New York City

         17  enjoy comprehensive reproductive health rights at a

         18  time when they are under relentless attack at the

         19  federal level.

         20                 We are grateful that the City Council

         21  has recognized the essential nature of emergency

         22  contraception, and FDA-approved means of presenting

         23  pregnancy up to 120 hours following unprotected sex.

         24                 The City Council has already been

         25  instrumental in expanding acts as to the safe and
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          2  effective drug that helps prevent unintended

          3  pregnancies, reduce abortions and promote women's

          4  reproductive health and rights.

          5                 The Council has required that public

          6  health clinics had EC on-site, ensuring that even

          7  the City's poorest women can access the tools

          8  necessary to prevent an unintended pregnancy.

          9                 They have made sure that the City

         10  only contracts with hospital emergency departments

         11  that meet the standard of care by providing EC

         12  on-site to sexual assault providers. And they have

         13  mandated that pharmacies post signs alerting their

         14  customers if they do not stock EC, providing women

         15  with important consumer protection information, and

         16  also pushing pharmacies to consider stocking EC.

         17                 In fact, the report issued by the

         18  City Council in the last week, found that since this

         19  law was adopted 20 percent more pharmacies Citywide

         20  are carrying EC.

         21                 Although the City Council has helped

         22  make incredible strides in the City, the situation

         23  here still isn't perfect. As the City Council's

         24  report found, 25 percent of pharmacies Citywide

         25  still do not stock EC, and that number increases
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          2  dramatically in certain areas of the City.

          3                 Thus, even in a pro-choice bastion

          4  like New York City, there are still obstacles to

          5  obtaining EC in a timely manner.

          6                 And if New York City isn't perfect,

          7  imagine what access is like in other areas of this

          8  State, and in other areas of this country, where

          9  they don't have representatives who are committed to

         10  taking steps, to expanding health options and giving

         11  women control over their reproductive health.

         12                 So, any state or federal mandate to

         13  create an over-the-counter model for EC will benefit

         14  not only New York City but every municipality it

         15  reaches.

         16                 Such a mandate will help increase

         17  timely access to EC by eliminating the intermediate

         18  step of visiting a doctor to obtain a prescription.

         19                 The two resolutions being considered

         20  by the City Council today would urge state law

         21  makers, and the Federal Food and Drug

         22  Administration, to make this basic women's health

         23  care even more readily accessible to women around

         24  the state and the nation by permitting access to EC

         25  without a prior prescription.

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 Resolution 92-A would call upon the

          3  FDA to approve over-the-counter status for Plan B,

          4  which would make this emergency contraception

          5  available to any woman in the country without a

          6  prescription.

          7                 Resolution 66-A calls upon the New

          8  York State Senate to adopt bill No. S.3339, which

          9  would allow licensed physicians, certified nurse

         10  practitioners and licensed mid-wives to write

         11  non-patient specific prescriptions for EC which

         12  could then be dispensed by licensed pharmacists and

         13  registered professional nurses.

         14                 This bill would, in essence, create

         15  an over-the-counter model for EC in New York.

         16                 It would also apply to any brand of

         17  EC on the market, including Medicaid covered Preven,

         18  and would be an important step to ensuring access in

         19  New York, if the FDA fails to act, or until it

         20  grants over-the-counter status to Plan B.

         21                 Both of these City Council

         22  resolutions urge actions which permit access to EC

         23  without a prior prescription at the National and

         24  State level respectively.

         25                 You have heard and will hear from
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          2  more health providers and advocates concerning why

          3  access to EC is critical to control over one's

          4  reproductive health, how widespread access to EC can

          5  dramatically reduce the number of unintended

          6  pregnancies in New York and across this country, why

          7  timely access to EC is essential to the efficacy,

          8  and how EC satisfies the over-the-counter standards

          9  set out by the FDA and therefore an appropriate

         10  candidate for over-the-counter status.

         11                 Although I have included such

         12  information in my written statement, rather than

         13  repeat these points here, I would like to emphasize

         14  one additional point.

         15                 The City Council, and then New York

         16  State have already addressed one problem faced by

         17  rape survivors by mandating that hospital emergency

         18  departments offer and provide, if requested, EC

         19  on-site to such patients.

         20                 This requirement has ensured that

         21  rape survivors would not have to endure the

         22  additional emotional trauma of having to learn

         23  about, obtain a prescription for, and seek EC on

         24  their own following the assault, or the increased

         25  possibility of an unwanted pregnancy. These are
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          2  incredible victories.

          3                 But what about the thousands of rape

          4  survivors each year who choose not to report the

          5  assault, who choose not to seek medical attention,

          6  out of fear, shame, or any number of emotions a rape

          7  survivor experiences following the assault.

          8                 For rape survivors who do not want to

          9  reach out to a doctor requiring a prescription to

         10  obtain EC may be tantamount to a complete denial of

         11  this critical and basic drug.

         12                 Women should not be forced to report

         13  an assault to obtain a prescription for this basic

         14  health care need. They should not be forced to

         15  report an assault in order to prevent an unwanted

         16  pregnancy.

         17                 The NYCLU has long been a staunch

         18  advocate for patients' privacy rights, including

         19  privacy concerning reproductive health.

         20  Over-the-counter access to EC would ensure that

         21  sexual assault survivors could receive the treatment

         22  they need while maintaining anonymity, if they so

         23  desire.

         24                 There is no legal reason to withhold

         25  over-the-counter status or a system that approximate
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          2  an over-the-counter model, from application to EC.

          3  There is no medical reason for refusing to permit

          4  access to EC without a prior prescription.

          5                 And study findings have refuted the

          6  public health and policy claims from opponents that

          7  EC causes teenagers to have more unprotected sex, or

          8  that people substitute EC for regular use of other

          9  contraceptive methods.

         10                 The law should not create unnecessary

         11  barriers that limit women's access to basic

         12  reproductive health care. Because all legal, medical

         13  and social science evidence supports the

         14  availability of emergency contraception without a

         15  prior prescription, we call on the City Council to

         16  pass proposed Resolution numbers 92-A and 66-A, to

         17  urge the FDA and the State Senate respectively to

         18  further expand access to this critical and

         19  effective, yet highly unutilized means of pregnancy

         20  prevention and provide this crucial boost to

         21  reproductive rights.

         22                 Thank you for allowing me the

         23  opportunity to testify.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         25                 I just want to say, we've also

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  received testimony in support of the resolution from

          3  the New York State Coalition Against Sexual Assault,

          4  who was unable to send somebody here today, but was

          5  a very big part of our effort on the first bills and

          6  both of the reports. Also from the American College

          7  of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and Physicians

          8  for Reproductive Choice in Health.

          9                 We've also been joined by Council

         10  Member Phil Reed of Manhattan, a member of the

         11  Committee, and now Council Members Yassky and

         12  Council Member Sears has questions for the panel.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, thank

         14  you very much. So the American College of

         15  Obstetricians and Gynecologists will actually not be

         16  testifying, right? But, okay, I would urge everybody

         17  here to just read their testimony. It's short, and I

         18  think coming from the American College of

         19  Obstetricians and Gynecologists establishes beyond

         20  doubt that there is no medical reason to withhold,

         21  that the only possible reason at this point that the

         22  FDA might ignore the medical advice would be a

         23  political one. I think that's important to

         24  understand.

         25                 Ms. Liebowitz, the number 3 million
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          2  unintended pregnancies is just a staggering one.

          3  That's based on survey research?

          4                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: Yes, it is.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And of those,

          6  how many resolved in abortions do we believe?

          7                 MS. LIEBOWITZ: I don't have that

          8  absolute fact for you, but I would be happy to get

          9  it and bring it back to the Council.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But there can

         11  be no doubt that reducing the number of unintended

         12  pregnancies significantly would reduce the number of

         13  abortions significantly as well?

         14                 MS. CARTER: I believe that the number

         15  is approximately 1.7 million.

         16                 MS. LIEBOWITZ: Yes, it's one point

         17  something, I'm just not sure of the exact number.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Can you just make

         19  sure your mic is on and you're speaking into the

         20  mic.

         21                 MS. CARTER: Yes, I would say that the

         22  numbers that we generally use within survey results

         23  is that an estimated half of unintended pregnancies

         24  end in abortion, which would equal about 1.7.

         25                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: I can tell you that I
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          2  am in the Manhattan Center every Monday and have

          3  been ever since we piloted the EC program. And it is

          4  just absolutely incredible, the number of women who

          5  walk into the center, because we do all walk-in

          6  appointments, an appointment is not necessary for

          7  EC, who truly just have no place else to go and they

          8  are there to prevent an unplanned pregnancy. The

          9  number just keeps increasing. And they're from all

         10  walks of life.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: What can you

         12  do, or what, I suppose, is Planned Parenthood doing

         13  to increase awareness of Plan B and of emergency

         14  contraception? If the American College of

         15  Obstetricians and Gynecologists were here, I would

         16  ask them. But is it part of the standard of care for

         17  gynecologists to inform their patients about this

         18  drug?

         19                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: I can't speak for

         20  gynecologists throughout the state. I can speak for

         21  Planned Parenthood providers, and it is part of our

         22  educational sessions with each and every user. Each

         23  and every client who comes into our center, no

         24  matter what the reason, whether it be for a GYN

         25  exam, whether it be for family planning EC, we have
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          2  an educational session and EC is part of every

          3  single visit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, I would

          5  urge you just to reach out to the physicians' groups

          6  themselves, and if it's not already, urge them to

          7  communicate with their members, gynecologists, that

          8  particularly young women on first or early visits

          9  need to be informed, need to understand that this is

         10  out there.

         11                 MS. CARTER: If I may also speak on

         12  behalf of my previous position at NARAL Pro-Choice

         13  New York, was with our World Provider Project, and

         14  the main work that we did around that is our EC

         15  Expansion Campaign, and we did work with non-Planned

         16  Parenthood Clinics because Planned Parenthood

         17  Clinics are obviously already quite good with this

         18  issue.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes.

         20                 MS. CARTER: We spoke with both rural

         21  OB-GYNs and family practice doctors, who as we know

         22  in less urban areas are the main practitioners in

         23  those locations, our family practice or general

         24  practice physicians.

         25                 It is not generally something that
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          2  they do in a regular routine visit, even with women

          3  of reproductive age, and we do work one-on-one with

          4  them to make sure that they're aware of it, and can

          5  use it, that they could use vastly more information

          6  on it. Especially, less so in the OB-GYN areas, but

          7  more GPAs and family practice, and even

          8  pediatricians to know this, with their young

          9  patients that are now going into a reproductive age.

         10                 So, we would strongly urge any

         11  efforts to help with educational, both for doctors,

         12  but also for patients, so I know it's actually

         13  something they should ask about and go after. We

         14  have massive pharmacy and other paid advertisements

         15  on television that encourage people to ask about all

         16  sorts of prescription medication, regardless if they

         17  know what it does or not, as your professional about

         18  it. These prescription drugs don't actually have the

         19  same money behind them. So, any sort of educational

         20  campaign in order to let people know they should ask

         21  about it will be strongly encouraged by our

         22  organization and I'm sure by others.

         23                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: And if I can just

         24  respond for a moment? Thank you very much. As

         25  Planned Parenthood, I believe it is very good at
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          2  educating women.

          3                 I can tell you, however, our medical

          4  director is an OB-GYN, is a proponent, needless to

          5  say, of educating every women who walks into our

          6  center.

          7                 I can, however, tell you that I am

          8  often in touch with other Planned Parenthood

          9  affiliates that are not right here in New York City,

         10  but are in the State of New York, and in fact,

         11  although they are consistent with doing education,

         12  the pharmacies do not stock upstate, no matter where

         13  you go. It is just absolutely incredible.

         14                 I had the opportunity actually to

         15  speak to this Council regarding signage, and I can

         16  tell you that it is rare that I see it.

         17                 Staten Island has gotten much better,

         18  but they are not even close to being there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Just my only

         20  other question is, my one concern about emergency

         21  contraception is plainly, we don't want women

         22  relying on that, for all the reasons and all your

         23  various testimony, is it is not merely so reliable.

         24                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: That's correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And also for
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          2  perspective of preventing STD transmission.

          3                 Do the manufacturers include in their

          4  -- you know, in that package itself, a kind of

          5  simple, you know, I know whenever I get a medicine

          6  it's got a long thing you fold out and it's got

          7  incredibly tiny print, but a more advertising

          8  effective message that this is not to be relied upon

          9  as a form of contraception, and that, you know,

         10  condoms or other --

         11                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: It's the same small

         12  print.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: It is?

         14                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: It's the same small

         15  print.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, again,

         17  Planned Parenthood has such prestige in this area, I

         18  would urge you to reach out to the manufacturers and

         19  consider and ask them to consider including, I don't

         20  know if the FDA says you can include things beyond

         21  what you're supposed to, or something like that,

         22  but, you know, a simple piece of paper that's in

         23  large print, and people will read, that makes it

         24  clear. And I see from the testimony that this

         25  experience suggesting that women do not in fact come
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          2  to substitute this for other forms --

          3                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But it strikes

          5  me that might be worthwhile to have manufacturers

          6  include advice like that with their product.

          7                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: And if I can just add,

          8  you have no idea how many condoms do break.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, I mean,

         10  for a host of reasons, I would think you don't want

         11  women coming to rely on this, and, so, the

         12  manufacturers might.

         13                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         15  Chair Quinn.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.

         17                 Council Member Sears.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.

         20                 Just one question, in the research

         21  that you do, are police statistics available to you?

         22  Because the offenses, the assaults on women are

         23  increasing in the City of New York, in one way or

         24  another, and certainly the police, to their

         25  community boards, when they get at their cabinet
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          2  meetings, do provide information as to robberies, et

          3  cetera, et cetera.

          4                 I don't know if they include what

          5  comes before their violence committees or not, but

          6  is any of that information privy to you, which would

          7  only substantiate and give greater strength to your

          8  research because it's growing? There are more in the

          9  police precincts that do have these units? And

         10  they've developed for a reason, they've developed

         11  because the sexual assaults, all kinds of assaults

         12  are in the increase in the City, and I think those

         13  numbers will be very important to you.

         14                 And I think they would have to make

         15  them public to you, because they do that to 59

         16  district cabinets, and I don't know if that is one

         17  piece -- I have not seen it on their reports, and I

         18  have attended many cabinet meetings, and it seems to

         19  me that that is the number that should also be shown

         20  in the cabinet meetings, and would be available to

         21  you. Because it certainly would help in terms of the

         22  passage of these bills in Albany, as well as what we

         23  can do further in the Council. And you would be

         24  surprised, those numbers are very substantial, and

         25  they are very convincing arguments.
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          2                 And I would agree with Councilman

          3  Yassky, that in addition to this, there must be

          4  other things because it is not preventive against

          5  sexually transmitted diseases. And I can tell you

          6  that in the western part of Queens, those numbers,

          7  sexually transmitted, are staggering. They're

          8  growing by leaps and bounds. So, we need to couple

          9  this information, alongside those of transmitted

         10  diseases.

         11                 So, you know, I'd be interested if

         12  you'd get some information from the Police

         13  Department. I think that could help us in whoever

         14  gets up to Albany.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And we'll also

         16  reach out to the Public Safety Committee staff here

         17  and see if they could get that information as well.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I really stress

         19  that. That's very key. You'd be surprised at how

         20  those numbers are growing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you all very

         22  much.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And I just want to

         25  thank these three groups and the other groups that
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          2  I've mentioned, and the rest that are going to come

          3  up and testify, for all of their help and support on

          4  this issue. You've all been very gracious in

          5  thanking all of us, but really it's been a terrific

          6  team effort on behalf of the women of New York City.

          7  So, we want to be very clear in the Council to thank

          8  all of you for all of your work with us.

          9                 MS. CARTER: Thank you.

         10                 MS. LEIBOWITZ: Thank you.

         11                 MS. SCHISSEL: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Next we're going

         13  to hear from Sylvia Henriquez, from the National

         14  Latina Institute for Reproductive Health, and also

         15  she just stepped out of the room but will be back in

         16  a second, Rita Haley, of NOW New York City.

         17                 But Silvia, you can go ahead and

         18  start.

         19                 MS. HENRIQUEZ: Hello. Good morning.

         20  Thank you very much for giving the Latina Institute

         21  the opportunity this morning to be here with you and

         22  testify.

         23                 Also, I wanted to --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You just need to

         25  state your name in the beginning.
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          2                 MS. HENRIQUEZ: Yes. My name is Silvia

          3  Henriquez, and I'm with the National Latina

          4  Institute for Reproductive Health. And I wanted to

          5  thank you all, again, for your leadership on this

          6  issue.

          7                 Emergency contraception, as we've

          8  already heard this morning, has proven to be safe,

          9  reliable, and a responsible means of preventing

         10  pregnancy.

         11                 It does not cause an abortion, and

         12  will not affect an established pregnancy. It poses

         13  no serious health risks. There is no danger of

         14  overdose or potential for addiction, and the dosage

         15  is the same for all women.

         16                 This morning I want to specifically

         17  speak to the needs of the Latina community and

         18  Latina women.

         19                 Moreover, the availability of

         20  over-the-counter emergency contraception can play a

         21  dramatically important role in reducing unintended

         22  pregnancies, abortion and sterilization rates among

         23  Latinas, enabling Latinas to exercise greater

         24  reproductive choice.

         25                 Additionally, it is likely to benefit

                                                            46

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  an especially vulnerable population; namely, the

          3  disproportionately high number of young, low-income

          4  and uninsured Latinas, with limited access to family

          5  planning and reproductive health care services, who

          6  may experience contraceptive failure for unprotected

          7  sexual intercourse.

          8                 As such, we believe Latinas are a key

          9  constituency whose reproductive options could be

         10  greatly improved by the provision of

         11  over-the-counter emergency contraception.

         12                 At present, accessing emergency

         13  contraception is made difficult for many Latinas who

         14  do not have a regular health care provider, are

         15  unable to take off from work within a 72-hour time

         16  frame, and/or cannot afford the cost of a health

         17  care visit, in order to secure a prescription for

         18  emergency contraception.

         19                 Currently, almost half of all US

         20  Latinas are of childbearing age, and the median age

         21  of Latinas is 26 years of age, as compared to 37

         22  years for white women and 30 years for black women.

         23  A substantial number of Latinas face more than 18

         24  years of reproductive capacity, and therefore the

         25  risk of unintended pregnancy during this protected
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          2  period.

          3                 Latinas have the highest pregnancy

          4  rate of any group. Additionally, concerns about

          5  unintended pregnancy have led many Latinas to choose

          6  sterilization.

          7                 In fact, despite an increasingly

          8  larger variety of contraceptive options on the

          9  market, the sterilization rate among Latinas has

         10  increased.

         11                 A major obstacle to preventing

         12  unintended pregnancies amongst Latinas is lack of

         13  access to reproductive health services, including

         14  family planning and contraception. Latinas not only

         15  have the highest uninsured rate of women from any

         16  racial ethnic group, almost 47 percent at this

         17  point, but the number of uninsured continues to rise

         18  and shows no signs of abating.

         19                 Moreover, welfare and immigration

         20  reform has severely impacted the ability of

         21  low-income Latinas to access safetynet programs,

         22  such as Medicaid.

         23                 In fact, 74 percent of pregnancies to

         24  women with a family income less than 150 percent of

         25  the federal poverty level, were unplanned
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          2  pregnancies.

          3                 Against this backdrop,

          4  over-the-counter emergency contraception, becomes an

          5  important option that can be employed directly by

          6  Latinas to significantly reduce the risk of

          7  unintended pregnancies.

          8                 Latinas face formidable obstacles to

          9  securing reproductive health services and enjoying

         10  the full range of reproductive options available to

         11  women.

         12                 At present, the promise of emergency

         13  contraception is exactly that, a mere promise.

         14  Latinas are disproportionately poor and uninsured,

         15  and many must rely on understaffed, financially

         16  distressed public health institutions for their

         17  care, sometimes waiting weeks or months for an

         18  appointment.

         19                 It is unlikely that many Latinas will

         20  be able to access emergency contraception within the

         21  required 72-hour time frame.

         22                 For these reasons, the National

         23  Latina Institute for Reproductive Health fully

         24  supports over-the-counter status for emergency

         25  contraception and we urge the FDA to approve this,
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          2  and we also really support your resolution here,

          3  92-A. So, thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

          5  much for coming today. I had the honor myself, and

          6  Council Member Lopez, to speak at the Institute's

          7  breakfast a couple of weeks ago, so I look forward

          8  to even more work together between the Council and

          9  the National Latina's Institute.

         10                 MS. HENRIQUES: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: And we've been to

         12  a million of their things now in New York City, so

         13  now we're going to hear from them and this is our

         14  final witness. Thank you.

         15                 MS. HALEY: Hello. Thank you for this

         16  opportunity to speak to the City Council, and a

         17  special hello to Christine Quinn.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Did you say your

         19  name for the record to start?

         20                 MS. HALEY: For the record, I'm

         21  starting?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: You need to state

         23  your name.

         24                 MS. HALEY: Oh, okay. I'll just be

         25  less chatty and read what I had to say.
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          2                 Good morning. I am Rita Haley,

          3  President of the New York City Chapter of the

          4  National Organization for Women. I thank you all for

          5  affording me the opportunity to speak on behalf of

          6  the Council resolution, urging the FDA to approve

          7  over-the-counter status for Plan B emergency

          8  contraception.

          9                 And basically I really want to make

         10  two points, the first of which is that reproductive

         11  liberties is the most fundamental of all liberties

         12  for women.

         13                 And the second is about the FDA's

         14  mandate, not being to make political or moral

         15  decisions, left all the important statistics to the

         16  people who have been doing the surveys, because I

         17  knew they would not be omitted.

         18                 Reproductive rights are essential to

         19  the freedom of women, but who can be free without

         20  control over their own bodies. Thus, I speak today

         21  on behalf of the millions of New York City women who

         22  recognize their right to safe and effective and

         23  accessible reproductive health options and therefore

         24  demand readily accessible emergency contraception.

         25                 As you all know, the FDA panel, whose
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          2  job it was to determine the advisability of

          3  over-the-counter status for emergency contraception,

          4  has already recommended the approval of this status

          5  to the FDA.

          6                 Why then do we in New York City need

          7  to concern ourselves with the FDA decision about

          8  emergency contraception?

          9                 Shouldn't the FDA follow the advice

         10  of the physicians and other scientists who comprise

         11  the panel? The answer is yes.

         12                 The question, though, is will they?

         13                 With this decision about

         14  over-the-counter status for EC, will the decision be

         15  determined as it should be, on the basis of

         16  scientific data and the needs of the women who wish

         17  to void an unwanted pregnancy and unnecessary

         18  abortion? Or will it be made on the basis of

         19  satisfying the needs of the anti-woman

         20  administration, that despite having lost the

         21  election, denies the will of the people by catering

         22  to anti-abortion, anti-contraception, anti-woman

         23  forces?

         24                 The battle between progressive and

         25  regressive forces for control of this country is
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          2  being fought with women's bodies, lives and rights.

          3                 As the President of the largest and

          4  founding chapter of the National Organization for

          5  Women, I want to make it clear that women will not

          6  tolerate being used and abused in this way.

          7                 The New York City Council has shown

          8  itself to be aware of and responsive to the need for

          9  readily accessible emergency contraception. We thank

         10  you and count on you to continue the support of the

         11  most fundamental of women's rights, the right to

         12  reproductive freedom.

         13                 We urge the City Council to state

         14  unequivocally that women's reproductive health

         15  options must not be determined by politicians, right

         16  wing ideologues or religious zealots. Rather, they

         17  must be determined on the basis of sound, medical

         18  data.

         19                 Medical safety, not electoral

         20  politics, must determine what reproductive health

         21  options are available to women.

         22                 Women have the right to emergency

         23  contraception, and the right to have it available

         24  when, where and how they need it.

         25                 Finally, we urge the New York City
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          2  Council to unequivocally remind the Federal Drug

          3  Administration and the Bush Administration, that FDA

          4  decisions must be made on the basis of science, not

          5  politics or personal moral values of its members.

          6                 According to the FDA website, the FDA

          7  is responsible for protecting the public health by

          8  assuring the safety, efficacy and security of human

          9  and veterinary drugs, biological products, medical

         10  devices and our nation's food supply, cosmetics and

         11  products that emit radiation. And then there's a

         12  little more about it also being responsive, and it's

         13  in what we wrote, so I'm not going to read it to

         14  you. But you will note that nowhere in the statement

         15  do the words "politics" or "morals" appear.

         16                 No matter what your personal views on

         17  abortion, do not allow the FDA to make decisions on

         18  the bases that are not within its scope of

         19  responsibility.

         20                 The less we begin to see FDA

         21  decisions that necessary medication made on the

         22  basis of other equally illegitimate but similarly

         23  political bases, such as the cost to insurance

         24  companies of necessary medication. I thank you for

         25  listening, and I'm done.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 Does anyone have any questions?

          5                 I just want to add a point, in

          6  reading your testimony regarding the medical

          7  appropriateness and the scientific findings, just

          8  raised in my mind that I omitted in my opening

          9  statement, which is that once again New York City --

         10  actually not New York City, the United States is not

         11  on the cutting edge of women's health issues,

         12  because what we're talking about here as debating

         13  and urging the FDA to approve is something that

         14  actually most of the countries in Europe have been

         15  using for quite some time, found it to be safe and

         16  effective and quite a hopeful and appropriate and

         17  important option for women. So, we have scientific

         18  data and lots of real life data from other countries

         19  to look at, which should certainly erase any

         20  political cloud that might be hanging over this.

         21                 So, thank you very much for your

         22  testimony.

         23                 Okay, we were just figuring out the

         24  logistics because one of our Committee members is

         25  chairing another meeting, so we're going to leave
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          2  the record open, as long as the Council member

          3  needs. The Clerk will remain in the room for about

          4  ten or 15 minutes afterwards, and if not, she should

          5  go downstairs.

          6                 Thank you very much. That said, the

          7  clerk is going to call the roll, for one vote on the

          8  two resolutions together: Reso 66-A and Reso 92-A.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye. And I would

         13  like to ask to be listed on the one that I'm not on.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye. And I

         18  would like to be on both. Thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Stewart.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Aye. And also

         21  I would like to be listed. If I'm not listed.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Council Member

         23  Oddo will be here in a minute, so if we could just

         24  hold the record open for him.

         25                 I, just before he leaves, want to
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          2  thank Council Member Yassky for -- we had been

          3  discussing the issue but it was really Council

          4  Member Yassky's Office who focused the Committee on

          5  the important date of on or around February 20th, so

          6  the Committee could pass this and make sure it gets

          7  communicated to the FDA before they vote. So, I want

          8  to thank them for reminding us of the time, both

          9  Council Member Yassky and his staff member Megan,

         10  for pointing that out to us.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Oddo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: No.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

         14  the affirmative, one in the negative, no

         15  abstentions, both resolutions are adopted. Council

         16  members, please sign the Committee report.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: This hearing of

         18  the Health Committee is adjourned.

         19                 (The following written testimony was

         20  read into the record.)

         21

         22

         23  Written Testimony Of:

         24  Richard N. Waldman, MD, FACOG

         25  Vice Chair
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          2  American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists

          3  District II/NY

          4

          5                 The American College of Obstetricians

          6  and Gynecologists, District II/NY (ACOG) is pleased

          7  to provide testimony in support of the New York City

          8  Council's resolutions calling upon the U.S. Food and

          9  Drug Administration (FDA) to approve Plan B, a

         10  dedicated emergency contraception product, for

         11  over-the-counter use and to urge the New York State

         12  Senate to pass the Unintended Pregnancy Prevention

         13  Act (S.3339).

         14                 ACOG is an ardent supporter of

         15  increasing access to emergency contraception (EC) to

         16  reduce the rate of unintended pregnancy. The

         17  benefits of EC provide clear evidence of the need to

         18  increase women's access to this important

         19  contraceptive therapy.

         20                 Emergency contraception is an

         21  extraordinarily simple, safe and effective back-up

         22  method of birth control. The term "emergency

         23  contraception" refers to hormones in the form of

         24  pills that are taken orally to prevent pregnancy

         25  after a woman has had unprotected sexual
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          2  intercourse.

          3                 This includes when regular methods of

          4  birth control fail and in cases of sexual assault.

          5  EC pills are simply a higher concentration of the

          6  same hormones found in traditional birth control

          7  pills. They are safe, and there are no known serious

          8  side effects associated with the use of EC.

          9                 EC prevents pregnancy from occurring

         10  - it does not cause abortion. It works by

         11  inhibiting or delaying ovulation, preventing

         12  fertilization, or preventing implantation of the

         13  fertilized egg. This method of contraception does

         14  not interrupt an established pregnancy, nor will it

         15  harm a woman or her fetus if it is inadvertently

         16  taken when she is already pregnant.

         17                 Despite its safety and its potential

         18  to significantly reduce unintended pregnancy,

         19  emergency contraception remains seriously

         20  underutilized. Efforts in recent years to educate

         21  women and their health care providers about EC have

         22  begun to raise awareness about its availability.

         23  However, increasing awareness that such a product

         24  exists addresses only half the problem. Lack of

         25  timely access to EC is an equally problematic
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          2  obstacle to its effective use.

          3                 EC is most effective the sooner it is

          4  taken. For example, if it is taken within 72 hours

          5  of unprotected intercourse, EC can reduce the chance

          6  of a woman becoming pregnant by as much as 85

          7  percent. Since EC's efficacy decreases as time

          8  passes, timely access to EC is critical. This means

          9  that if a woman does not already have a prescription

         10  for EC, there is a considerably narrow window of

         11  opportunity for her to get a prescription from a

         12  licensed prescriber and find a pharmacy that stocks

         13  the product.

         14                 Obtaining a prescription from a

         15  licensed prescriber is not always practical or

         16  possible, particularly during the evenings or over a

         17  weekend, when medical offices and clinics are

         18  closed.

         19                 Therefore, letter access to EC is

         20  needed to further prevent unplanned pregnancies and

         21  reduce the number of abortions. In fact, expanded

         22  access to EC could prevent as many as half of the

         23  unintended pregnancies that occur each year.

         24                 ACOG supports a number of initiatives

         25  to increase access to EC including making EC
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          2  available over-the-counter. We were one of 70

          3  organizations to petition the FDA in 2001 to change

          4  EC's prescription status. Most recently, ACOG

          5  testified before the FDA in support of making Plan B

          6  available without a prescription. We testified that

          7  Plan B's labeling instructions are easy to

          8  understand, women can easily self-diagnose the

          9  condition for which it is needed, and it is safe,

         10  effective and easy to use. EC does not cause birth

         11  defects, it has no potential for overdose or

         12  addiction, it has no important drug interactions and

         13  it requires no medical screening before women take

         14  it. For all of these reasons, ACOG believes that

         15  Plan B can meet the FDA criteria for

         16  over-the-counter status.

         17                 Until the FDA approves this change,

         18  ACOG also supports legislative efforts on the state

         19  level to increase access to EC. The unintended

         20  Pregnancy Prevention Act, (A.888/S.3339) would allow

         21  pharmacists and nurses to dispense EC pursuant to a

         22  non-patient specific prescription. This means that a

         23  physician or other licensed prescriber could provide

         24  a prescription to a pharmacist or nurse that

         25  authorizes the dispensing of EC to any woman.
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          2                 By allowing pharmacists to dispense

          3  EC or by making EC available without a prescription,

          4  women would have greater and more timely access to

          5  EC to prevent an unintended pregnancy that might

          6  have otherwise resulted in an abortion.

          7                 The problem is well documented. EC is

          8  needed to prevent the large number of unintended

          9  pregnancies each year. Contraceptive methods do

         10  sometimes fail and accidents don't discriminate.

         11  They can happen to single and married women, mothers

         12  and daughters; women in their 20s, 30s, and

         13  throughout their reproductive years.

         14                 The solution is equally evident. If

         15  women had easy, timely access to emergency

         16  contraception without the need for a prescription,

         17  we could help cut the rate of unintended pregnancy

         18  in half.

         19                 We thank the New York City Council

         20  for resolving to urge the FDA to heed the

         21  recommendation of its scientific advisory committees

         22  and make Plan B available without a prescription in

         23  the United States and to urge the New York State

         24  Senate to pass the Unintended Pregnancy Prevention

         25  Act (S.3339). Then, at last, women would have access
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          2  to an important method of preventing pregnancy.

          3  Thank you.

          4

          5

          6  Written Testimony Of:

          7  Alan G. Hevesi

          8  Comptroller of the State of New York

          9

         10                 As New York's Comptroller, I serve as

         11  the State's fiscal watchdog, identifying waste of

         12  taxpayer funds and trying to increase government

         13  efficiency at both the State and local level.

         14                 I bring to the job of State

         15  Comptroller 22 years of experience as a member of

         16  the New York State Legislature where I served as

         17  Chairman of the Committee on Health and capitalized

         18  on every opportunity to promote a woman's right to

         19  choose.

         20                 In addition, during my tenure as New

         21  York City Comptroller, I often weighted in with the

         22  New York City Council on important issues, such as

         23  the resolution being considered today. It is in the

         24  context of this experience that I am pleased to

         25  offer my support of the New York City Council
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          2  Resolution No. 92 - Resolution calling upon the Food

          3  and Drug Administration (FDA) to approve emergency

          4  contraception (Plan B) for over-the-counter sale.

          5                 New York, like most states, is faced

          6  with severe budget challenges. Double-digit annual

          7  increases in healthcare costs continue to play a

          8  large role in these challenges. In New York,

          9  federal, state and local spending on Medicaid

         10  totaled $33.6 billion in State fiscal year 2002-03,

         11  up more than 15 percent from the previous year.

         12                 In New York City, City Medicaid

         13  expenditures in 2003 totaled more than $3.7 billion.

         14  The City's Medicaid expenditures continue to grow

         15  faster than City fund revenues, and are projected to

         16  consume, on average, 14.7 percent of City fund

         17  revenues between fiscal years 2005 and 2008, as

         18  compared to 12.5 percent between fiscal year 1999

         19  and 2003.

         20                 It is clear that New York, other

         21  states and the Federal Government must look for

         22  innovative ways to control healthcare costs without

         23  compromising public health, safety or quality of

         24  care.

         25                 Emergency contraception is an example
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          2  of an innovative solution that cannot only reduce

          3  healthcare costs, but also generate savings by

          4  avoiding secondary, long-term costs of unintended

          5  pregnancy and the burdens placed on individuals and

          6  families faced with an unintended pregnancy, by

          7  providing women with the opportunity to prevent an

          8  unwanted pregnancy before it occurs.

          9                 In November 2003, I issued a report

         10  that highlighted information on the number and cost

         11  of unintended pregnancies in New York State, as well

         12  as the potential savings that could be achieved

         13  through increased access to emergency contraception.

         14  Staff at the Office of the State Comptroller

         15  estimate, that in 2000, a staggering 58 percent

         16  (244,321) of all pregnancies in New York State

         17  (excluding miscarriages) were unintended.

         18                 Many unintended pregnancies end in

         19  abortion, and in 2000, New York State had the

         20  highest rate of abortions of any state at 39.1 per

         21  1,000 women. Of the 244,321 unintended pregnancies

         22  that year, two-thirds (164,630) ended in abortion.

         23  The remaining one-third (79,691) of these unintended

         24  pregnancies resulted in birth. The women

         25  experiencing these unintended pregnancies and the
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          2  children born from them face a number of negative

          3  physical, emotional and financial impacts, such as

          4  depression, neglect, abuse and low birth weight,

          5  often leading to life-long challenges. Emergency

          6  contraception, if available and accessible, could

          7  play a substantial role in addressing the problem of

          8  unintended pregnancy and these consequences.

          9                 In addition to the considerable

         10  impact on women and their families, unintended

         11  pregnancies - whether they result in abortion or

         12  birth - drive significant costs in both publicly and

         13  privately financed healthcare systems. Based on 2000

         14  data, the Office of the State Comptroller estimates

         15  that the healthcare cost for both abortions and

         16  births associated with unintended pregnancies in New

         17  York State would be $913.3 million in 2003.

         18                 Of these costs, $510.7 million for

         19  58,740 abortions and 46,036 unintended births is

         20  attributed to the Medicaid program. The $402.5

         21  million in costs for the remaining unintended

         22  pregnancies in the State is associated with those

         23  residents who have private insurance, self-pay

         24  medical costs, are enrolled in public non-Medicaid

         25  healthcare programs (such as Child Health Plus) or
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          2  are uninsured. The cost of 105,890 abortions and

          3  33,655 unintended births for this population was

          4  paid for by private and public sector sources and

          5  reflects an overall cost to the healthcare system in

          6  New York.

          7                 For many women, there are seemingly

          8  only two choices when faced with an unintended

          9  pregnancy: to terminate or continue the pregnancy.

         10  However, increased access to emergency contraception

         11  would give women potentially facing this difficult

         12  situation an important alternative prior to the

         13  pregnancy.

         14                 Emergency contraception pills (ECPs),

         15  a concentrated treatment of the hormones contained

         16  in birth control pills, are used to prevent

         17  pregnancy after unprotected intercourse, as a method

         18  of backup birth control in an emergency situation.

         19                 ECP use has been supported by many

         20  medical organizations, including the American

         21  College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG),

         22  the American Medical Association (AMA) and

         23  Physicians for Reproductive Choice and Health.

         24                 However, even though two dedicated

         25  ECP products have been available for five years,
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          2  research shows that information about the products

          3  is still not readily supplied to women by their

          4  physicians and access to emergency contraception

          5  remains limited.

          6                 Use of ECPs is considered to have the

          7  potential to reduce unintended pregnancy by half.

          8  Such a reduction would provide enormous benefits to

          9  society. Not only would women facing unintended

         10  pregnancy benefit socially and emotionally, but the

         11  economic impact for both public and private

         12  healthcare systems would be positive and

         13  substantial. To achieve these benefits, however,

         14  women must be able to directly access ECPs in a

         15  timely manner. Over-the-counter status for ECPs will

         16  provide women with this critical access.

         17                 The significant economic benefit

         18  would be achieved by decreasing the cost of

         19  unintended pregnancy by half. The Office of the

         20  State Comptroller estimated that under

         21  prescription-based ECP treatment, total potential

         22  savings resulting from a 50 percent reduction in

         23  unintended pregnancies in New York State would range

         24  from $395.4 million to $452.3 million, which

         25  considers an offset of the cost for ECPs.
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          2                 If ECPs were available

          3  over-the-counter, the cost of ECP treatment would

          4  likely decrease resulting in even more savings.

          5                 Further, while cost for

          6  over-the-counter ECP treatments would still be paid

          7  by the Medicaid program, the non-Medicaid population

          8  would self-pay for ECPs, thereby increasing savings

          9  to the other healthcare systems in New York.

         10                 Under prescription-based ECP

         11  treatment, potential savings from reducing the

         12  Medicaid unintended pregnancy rate by half would

         13  range from $237.6 million to $254.1 million.

         14  Similarly, such a reduction in the unintended

         15  pregnancy rate for the other healthcare systems in

         16  New York State would lead to potential savings

         17  ranging from $157.8 million to $198.2 million.

         18                 The benefit of accessible ECPs to New

         19  Yorkers would be the potential to prevent 122,161

         20  unintended pregnancies, resulting in 82,315 fewer

         21  abortions and 39,846 fewer unintended births.

         22  Reducing unintended Medicaid pregnancies in New York

         23  State by half (52,388) would result in 29,370 fewer

         24  abortions and 23,018 fewer births among Medicaid

         25  recipients. Similarly, reducing unintended
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          2  pregnancies for the other healthcare systems in New

          3  York State by half (69,773) would result in 52,945

          4  fewer abortions and 16,828 fewer births.

          5                 Publicly funded family planning

          6  efforts are already credited with preventing more

          7  than 95,000 unintended pregnancies every year in New

          8  York. With increased accessibility to ECPs, a

          9  substantial number of the more than 240,000

         10  unintended pregnancies that do occur each year in

         11  New York could also be avoided.

         12                 Steps, however, must be taken to

         13  ensure that ECP products are available to women in a

         14  timely manner so that unintended pregnancy may be

         15  avoided.

         16                 The Office of the State Comptroller

         17  joins ACOG, the AMA and Physicians for Reproductive

         18  Choice and Health, as well as many other

         19  organizations that support women's reproductive

         20  health care, in advocating for over-the-counter

         21  status of ECPs.

         22                 Thank you for allowing me the

         23  opportunity to present this information as the City

         24  Council considers approval of Resolution No. 92.

         25
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          2

          3  Written Testimony Of:

          4  A. George Thomas, MD

          5  Member, Physicians for Reproductive Choice and

          6  Health

          7

          8                 As an obstetrician/gynecologist,

          9  resident of New York City, and member of Physicians

         10  for Reproductive Choice and Health (PRCH), I write

         11  in strong support for unrestricted over-the-counter

         12  status of emergency contraceptive pills (ECPs).

         13                 PRCH is a national, nonprofit

         14  organization of nearly 6,000 physician and

         15  non-physician members committed to ensuring that all

         16  people have the necessary knowledge and freedom of

         17  choice to make reproductive health decisions. We

         18  firmly support universal access to safe, effective,

         19  and evidence-based reproductive health care.

         20                 I am currently an Associate Professor

         21  at Mount Sinai Medical Center in New York City.

         22  Given the extremely high rate of unintended

         23  pregnancy in the United States, the extensive

         24  scientific research on ECPs, and my clinical

         25  experience, I believe that over-the-counter (OTC)
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          2  status will remove unnecessary and harmful barriers

          3  to a highly effective and entirely safe product.

          4                 Unintended Pregnancy in America.

          5                 The majority of American women use

          6  contraception. Of the 60 million women aged 15-44,

          7  64 percent practice contraception. Nearly all -

          8  ninety-three percent - of women aged 18-44 who are

          9  sexually-active, non-sterile, and not attempting to

         10  conceive use a form of contraception. Most of these

         11  women - 61 percent - use reversible contraceptives

         12  like condoms or the pill, and the remaining women

         13  rely on male or female sterilization. Overall, women

         14  use their contraception responsibly and effectively,

         15  as actual-use studies show success rates from 88 to

         16  99.6 percent for reversible methods, and more than

         17  99 percent for non-reversible methods of

         18  contraception.

         19                 Contraception, regrettably, is

         20  neither universal nor fail-proof. Unintended

         21  pregnancies occur in both the small percentage of

         22  women who don't use contraception, and in women for

         23  whom contraception fails. Forty-eight percent of

         24  women who had an unplanned birth in 1994 had been

         25  using a contraceptive method during the month they
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          2  became pregnant, as had 58 percent of those who had

          3  abortions. Of all the women who experienced an

          4  unintended pregnancy, more than half - 53 percent -

          5  were using contraception at the time of conception.

          6                 We must increase patients' access to,

          7  and knowledge of, correct contraception utilization

          8  while confronting the occurrence of unprotected

          9  intercourse; broken, slipped, or leaking condoms;

         10  dislodged or broken diaphragms; incorrect use of

         11  cervical caps; un-melted spermicide tablets; missed

         12  birth control pills; expulsion of intrauterine

         13  devices; late injection of subcutaneous

         14  contraceptives; rape; and simple statistical failure

         15  of birth control, among others.

         16                 Despite being the wealthiest nation

         17  in the world, the United States has the highest rate

         18  of unintended pregnancy among industrialized

         19  nations. As of 1994, nearly half - 49 percent - of

         20  all pregnancies in America were unintended, and more

         21  than half - 54 percent - of those ended in abortion.

         22  Among women aged 15-44, 28 percent have had an

         23  unplanned birth, and 30 percent have had an

         24  abortion. These numbers are problematic, as

         25  unintended pregnancy is associated with both high
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          2  maternal morbidity and economic costs.

          3                 Fortunately, unintended pregnancies

          4  are largely preventable, and increasing use of

          5  effective contraception has led to an overall

          6  decline of unintended pregnancies since 1987. Health

          7  experts estimate that widespread use of emergency

          8  contraceptive could prevent as many as 1.7 million

          9  unintended pregnancies each year.

         10                 Medical Information about ECPs.

         11                 Emergency contraceptive pills can

         12  prevent pregnancy after intercourse by providing a

         13  concentrated dose of the same hormones found in

         14  daily birth control pills. As with daily birth

         15  control, ECPs are available as either progestin-only

         16  or combined estrogen-progestin pills. Both types of

         17  ECPs are available as a two-dose regimen, in which

         18  the first dose should be taken as soon as possible

         19  after unprotected intercourse, and the second dose

         20  taken 12 hours after the first.

         21                 Documented use of ECP's began in the

         22  1960s, as physicians helped sexual-assault survivors

         23  reduce their risk of pregnancy. In 1974, a Canadian

         24  physician named A. Albert Yuzpe first published

         25  studies showing his eponymous two-dose regimen of
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          2  ECPs to be both safe and effective.

          3                 By the 1990s, nearly one-third of ECP

          4  prescriptions were for rape survivors, and the

          5  medical community began to recognize that ECPs

          6  should be available to all women.

          7                 Since then, the FDA has recognized

          8  the extensive data on ECP safety and efficacy by

          9  endorsing the use of combined estrogen-progestin

         10  pills as emergency contraception in 1997, approving

         11  the first dedicated ECP in the United States in

         12  1998, and approving the first progestin-only ECP in

         13  1999.

         14                 Despite ECPs' unique ability to

         15  reduce unintended pregnancy rates, they have been

         16  vastly underused and misunderstood. A 2003 survey

         17  found that only 17 percent of gynecologists and 9

         18  percent of general practice physicians routinely

         19  discussed emergency contraception with their

         20  clients. Thirty-two percent of women aged 18-44

         21  still do not know there is something a woman can do

         22  to prevent pregnancy immediately after intercourse.

         23                 ECPs and Existing Pregnancy.

         24                 Both patients and providers have

         25  misconceptions about ECPs, their methods of action,
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          2  and how they differ from mifepristone - the medical

          3  abortion pill. ECPs and mifepristone are unrelated

          4  medications. ECPs do not induce abortion in an

          5  already-pregnant woman; they prevent pregnancy.

          6                 Mifepristone (also known as RU-486)

          7  terminates an early, established pregnancy when

          8  taken within 63 days of a pregnant woman's last

          9  menstrual period. A mifepristone regimen interrupts

         10  the hormone necessary for fetal development, causing

         11  the uterus to contract and empty.

         12                 In contrast, ECPs work by preventing

         13  a pregnancy before it even begins. ECPs are not

         14  abortion pills, do not contain the same chemical

         15  ingredients as mifepristone, and do not affect a

         16  pregnancy once it has been established.

         17                 Instead, ECPs use estrogen and

         18  progestin to prevent a pregnancy by inhibiting

         19  ovulation, fertilization, or implantation. Pregnancy

         20  begins with the implantation of a fertilized egg

         21  into the uterine lining, typically six to seven days

         22  after intercourse. Emergency contraception acts

         23  within this one-week window to prevent the pregnancy

         24  from beginning.

         25                 Certain ECP opponents focus on this
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          2  last mechanism - preventing implantation of a

          3  fertilized egg - and contend that it is analogous to

          4  abortion. This argument is scientifically and

          5  legally fallacious. The Medical Dictionary of

          6  Obstetric and Gynecologic Terminology, the United

          7  States Code of Federal Regulations, the National

          8  Institutes of Health, and the United States

          9  Department of Health and Human Services are among

         10  the many official sources that define pregnancy not

         11  by fertilization, but by implantation.

         12                 It is both scientifically inaccurate

         13  and inconsistent to argue that implantation

         14  inhibition by ECPs is a form of abortion, as many

         15  standard contraceptive methods may have the same

         16  mechanism of action: daily birth-control pills,

         17  birth-control shots, and intrauterine devices (IUDs)

         18  may all prevent the implantation of a fertilized egg

         19  into the uterine lining.

         20                 Even breastfeeding has a

         21  contraceptive effect that may work by inhibiting

         22  ovulation and/or implantation, particularly within

         23  six months of delivery.

         24                 More than half of all fertilized eggs

         25  are never implanted in the uterus, but flushed out
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          2  of the body during menstruation.

          3                 Additionally, the most recent

          4  analyses of ECPs offer no evidence of implantation

          5  interference, but do support pre-fertilization

          6  contraceptive effects. Since ECPs work during the

          7  week after intercourse, they may either prevent the

          8  initial encounter of spermatozoa with the ovum or

          9  impede complete fertilization once gametes come in

         10  contact.

         11                 Fertilization in humans is already an

         12  inefficient process: in ideal circumstances (when

         13  intercourse occurs during a woman's six most fertile

         14  days of the menstrual cycle), there is only a 50

         15  percent chance of fertilization.

         16                 Minor changes in the processes

         17  leading to fertilization can significantly reduce

         18  the chances of gametes meeting, as has been

         19  confirmed experimentally with ECP alterations to

         20  pre-fertilization events.

         21                 In contrast to such data supporting

         22  pre-fertilization mechanisms, only one

         23  post-fertilization mechanism - decreasing uterine

         24  receptivity - has been investigated. At least four

         25  studies have suggested that synthetic progestins
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          2  from ECPs (e.g., levonorgestrel) have negligible

          3  effects on the uterine lining. Analysis of synthetic

          4  progestins suggests that both the 25 percent failure

          5  rate of certain ECPs and the fact that efficacy is

          6  highest immediately after intercourse are additional

          7  reasons for doubting that these products prevent

          8  pregnancy via post-fertilization events.

          9                 Some people have errantly expressed

         10  concerns about ECPs' effects on an

         11  already-established pregnancy or on a pregnancy that

         12  may develop despite ECP use.

         13                 Several major studies show that

         14  high-dose hormonal contraceptives neither interrupt

         15  pregnancy nor harm a developing fetus.

         16                 Forty years of extensive studies

         17  support this data and confirm that hormonal

         18  contraceptive use during early pregnancy will not

         19  damage an embryo. The FDA removed label-warnings of

         20  possible teratongenic effects from oral

         21  contraceptive pills several years ago, and

         22  FDA-approved ECP labels do not carry such warnings.

         23                 For this reason, guidelines from the

         24  FDA, the American College of Obstetricians and

         25  Gynecologists (ACOG), and the Program for
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          2  Appropriate Technologies in Health do not require a

          3  pregnancy test before ECP treatment. Although

          4  ectopic pregnancy may still occur after ECP use,

          5  research indicates that the product does not

          6  increase that risk.

          7                 Efficacy and Safety.

          8                 Multiple studies on ECPs demonstrate

          9  that they are highly effective at preventing

         10  pregnancy when taken immediately after intercourse.

         11                 The risk of pregnancy without

         12  contraception is 8 percent. The combined

         13  estrogen-progestin ECPs may reduce this overall risk

         14  to 2 percent, and the progestin-only product may

         15  reduce it to 1 percent.

         16                 Studies of the progestin-only regimen

         17  indicate that ECPs can reduce pregnancy risk by 95

         18  percent when taken within 24 hours of unprotected

         19  intercourse, and by 89 percent when taken within

         20  three days.

         21                 After three days, ECP-efficacy is cut

         22  in half for every 12 hours of delay, even though the

         23  regimen may still work as a contraceptive up to 120

         24  hours (five days) after unprotected intercourse.

         25  Given these efficacy rates, our responsibility as
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          2  medical professionals is to make ECPs available to

          3  all women as soon as possible after unprotected

          4  intercourse - preferably within the first 12 hours.

          5                 Extensive research also demonstrates

          6  that ECPs are extremely safe, including when

          7  self-administered. The hormones in ECPs have been

          8  used for more than thirty years as daily birth

          9  control by tens of millions of women, and serious

         10  complications have been extremely low.

         11                 The World Health Organization's Task

         12  Force of Postovulatory Methods of Fertility

         13  Regulation conducted the largest study of the two

         14  FDA-approved ECP regimens to date, and found the

         15  most common side effects to be nausea, breast

         16  tenderness, lower abdominal pain, fatigue, headache,

         17  irregular menstruation, dizziness, vomiting, and

         18  diarrhea. Although no deaths have ever been

         19  attributed to ECP use, approximately 300 women die

         20  each year from overdoses of other OTC medications

         21  such as analgesics, antipyretics, and

         22  antirheumatics.

         23                 In contrast, research suggests that

         24  the most serious effects of intentional ECP overdose

         25  would be nausea and irregular menses.
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          2                 Although the current package labels

          3  for ECPs list a number of contraindications, none of

          4  these are medically or scientifically-supported for

          5  hormonal emergency contraceptives. Rather, the lists

          6  are adapted from daily birth control labeling and

          7  according to both ACOG's practice patterns and the

          8  consortium of emergency contraception, are unlikely

          9  to apply to ECPs because of variant use and

         10  duration. From this list, pregnancy is a

         11  contraindication to ECPs because the product is

         12  ineffective during pregnancy, not because of any

         13  safety concerns.

         14                 With such documented safety, ECPs do

         15  not require professional supervision or monitoring.

         16  The treatment duration with ECPs is only 12 hours,

         17  the hormones are not addictive, and side-effects are

         18  mild and limited. All woman take the same dose of

         19  each regimen, and no harmful drug interactions are

         20  known to exist with ECPs.

         21                 Although certain medications (like

         22  rifampin, some anticonvulsant drugs and St. John's

         23  Wort) may reduce ECP efficacy, there is no evidence

         24  how - or if - ECP dosage should be altered to

         25  accommodate these drugs.
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          2                 Researchers assert that, contrary to

          3  popular belief, there is also no credible evidence

          4  that commonly-used antibiotics, including

          5  penicillins and tetracyclines, reduce the efficacy

          6  of oral contraceptive pills. Small-scale studies

          7  have revealed no relevant effects of common

          8  antibiotics on serum levels of contraceptive

          9  steroids.

         10                 Concerns Regarding OTC use.

         11                 Actual Use.

         12                 In addition to evaluating the safety

         13  and efficacy of ECPs, scientific research has also

         14  addressed actual-use questions specific to OTC

         15  availability.

         16                 Common concerns include whether women

         17  will be less likely to use regular contraception,

         18  more likely to become repeat ECP-users, and/or more

         19  likely to engage in risky sexual behavior.

         20                 At least six major studies on four

         21  continents have addressed these points. Results from

         22  these studies indicate that easier availability of

         23  ECPs neither undermines use of consistent

         24  contraception (like condoms and birth-control), nor

         25  increases the incidence of unsafe sexual behavior.
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          2  Studies of advanced provision do, however, show that

          3  women with easier access are much more likely to use

          4  ECPs when necessary.

          5                 Only a small proportion of studied

          6  ECP-users needed the product more than once or twice

          7  a year, which suggests that repeat use will not be a

          8  problem because consumers understand ECPs are not

          9  first-line contraceptives.

         10                 Nevertheless, clear consumer

         11  information discouraging use as the sole method of

         12  contraception is important, as pregnancy risk is

         13  significantly higher when ECPs are used as a primary

         14  contraceptive. Product branding and marketing

         15  strategies have actively promoted this message by

         16  terming dedicated products "emergency contraceptive

         17  pills." The brand name of the current progestin-only

         18  product, Plan B, likewise suggests that it is not a

         19  first line of contraception, and a major public

         20  education campaign out of Princeton University is

         21  named Back Up Your Birth Control. Available research

         22  indicates that such efforts are, and will continue

         23  to be, effective in promoting this product with its

         24  dedicated, "emergency" purpose. ECPs can be likened

         25  to fire extinguishers. They exist in case something
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          2  goes wrong, but every home should have one. Buying a

          3  fire extinguisher does not increase the likelihood

          4  of, or incentive to, cook recklessly simply because

          5  an emergency solution is available.

          6                 Labeled Comprehension.

          7                 Label-comprehension and actual-use

          8  studies for ECPs demonstrate that women, including

          9  adolescents, can use OTC ECPs safely, effectively

         10  and appropriately.

         11                 The label-comprehension study of a

         12  prototype-product revealed that 97 percent of

         13  participants understood to use the product as soon

         14  as possible or within 72 hours of unprotected

         15  intercourse, and 94 percent understood that it

         16  provided no protection against HIV or other sexually

         17  transmitted infections.

         18                 The actual-use study found an

         19  extremely low incidence of contraindicated use (1.3

         20  percent, based on labeled contraindications) in a

         21  study population broadly representative of women

         22  likely to use ECPs. In addition, 93 percent of

         23  subjects took the first pill within 72 hours of

         24  unprotected sex and the second pill within 16 hours

         25  of the first. None of the participants reported
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          2  serious side-effects, and less than 2 percent of the

          3  subjects became pregnant.

          4                 Over-the-counter provision of

          5  progestin-only ECPs abroad has been very successful,

          6  and women have not had problems understanding usage

          7  instructions.

          8                 Adolescent Use.

          9                 At least six major scientific studies

         10  have focused specifically on adolescents and ECPs.

         11  The conclusions uniformly report that adolescents

         12  will use the product correctly and infrequently.

         13                 Findings from a University of

         14  Pittsburgh study indicated that adolescent girls

         15  given an advanced supply of ECPs were more likely to

         16  use it when needed, and reported fewer unintended

         17  pregnancies and sexually transmitted diseases.

         18                 Other studies confirmed that teens'

         19  use of regular contraceptives like condoms do not

         20  decline with ECP use, and a study of young women in

         21  Britain found that using ECPs following a pregnancy

         22  scare may actually make women more likely to use an

         23  effective, ongoing contraceptive method.

         24  Facilitating adolescents' access to ECPs in

         25  particularly important, as teenagers often have
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          2  significant trouble gaining access to reproductive

          3  health information and care.

          4                 Research shows that in settings as

          5  diverse as Scotland and Hong Kong, adolescents know

          6  more about emergency contraception and use it more

          7  frequently than in the United States.

          8                 Currently, condoms and spermicides

          9  are widely available to minors over-the-counter. As

         10  a product that could drastically reduce the rate of

         11  unintended pregnancy among adolescents, ECPs should

         12  share their OCT status.

         13                 ECPs Meet FDA Criteria for OTC

         14  Products.

         15                 In the wake of overwhelming

         16  scientific data supporting OTC-ECPs' efficacy and

         17  safety, prescription-only status is medically

         18  unjustified and indefensible. When we consider each

         19  of the four FDA criteria for OTC status, ECPs meet

         20  them all:

         21                 - first, treatment must be

         22  self-diagnosable. No one is more likely to diagnose

         23  contraceptive failure (or failure to use

         24  contraception) than the woman herself.

         25                 - second, treatment must be effective
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          2  when self-administered. Correct administration of

          3  ECPs relies only on how much time has elapsed since

          4  intercourse. All patients receive the same dose of

          5  ECPs, and any drug interactions would be harmless

          6  and unlikely to seriously affect efficacy.

          7                 - third, treatment must be safe when

          8  self-administered. ECPs are nontoxic to women, as

          9  well as to a developing fetus in case of established

         10  pregnancy. The product has a low risk of abuse and

         11  few, minor side-effects.

         12                 - fourth, labeling must be clear for

         13  self-administration. As demonstrated by research,

         14  ECP instructions are simple, clear, comprehensive

         15  and easy-to-follow.

         16                 Prescription Status Creates

         17  Detrimental Access Barriers.

         18                 In addition to being medically

         19  unjustified, prescription-only status of ECPs erects

         20  harmful barriers to access. Emergency contraceptive

         21  pills are unique in that their efficacy is extremely

         22  time sensitive, and waiting for a prescription to be

         23  filled wastes precious moments.

         24                 Most women seek emergency

         25  contraception on weekends or after normal business
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          2  hours, and thus have difficulty obtaining a

          3  physician's prescription.

          4                 Many women do not have a regular

          5  healthcare provider, and a study conducted by the

          6  Reproductive Health Technologies Project found that

          7  14 percent of calls made to the ECP hotline

          8  (1-888-Not-2-Late) resulted in failure to get an

          9  appointment or prescription for ECPs within 72

         10  hours.

         11                 It is imperative that sexual assault

         12  survivors have immediate, private, and unhindered

         13  access to ECPs - a goal facilitated by OTC-access.

         14  Years of research suggest that women who have been

         15  sexually-assaulted do not always seek healthcare or

         16  feel comfortable discussing the episode immediately

         17  afterwards.

         18                 According to the Alan Guttmacher

         19  Institute, there are an estimated 32,000

         20  rape-related pregnancies each year in women over 18

         21  years of age.

         22                 In the case of women who do present

         23  in emergency rooms post-sexual assault, studies have

         24  found that the majority of hospitals do not

         25  routinely offer emergency contraception to rape

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  survivors, nor do they have standard protocols for

          3  offering the treatment.

          4                 A number of religiously affiliated -

          5  and even some secular - hospitals do not provide

          6  ECPs under any circumstances.

          7                 Currently, only six states mandate

          8  that emergency rooms provide information about, and

          9  access to, ECPs for sexual-assault survivors.

         10  Over-the-counter access to ECPs is especially

         11  critical for the well-being of sexual-assault

         12  survivors.

         13                 Prescription-only status of ECPs is

         14  deeply frustrating for both patients and healthcare

         15  providers. As a physician, supplying an unnecessary,

         16  immediate prescription for this product adds to an

         17  already-busy practice.

         18                 I often feel as though I'm racing

         19  against time while my patients overcome great

         20  hurdles to access a treatment for which my approval

         21  and guidance are gratuitous.

         22                 A majority of my colleagues and our

         23  professional organizations share these sentiments.

         24                 The American College of Obstetricians

         25  and Gynecologists has officially stated that ECPs
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          2  "can meet the FDA criteria for OTC availability,"

          3  and that "substantial barriers exist to women

          4  obtaining this fallback contraceptive method that

          5  must be used within 72 hours after unprotected

          6  intercourse."

          7                 Similarly, the American Medical

          8  Organization (AMA) declares that it will work to

          9  improve access to ECPs while promising to "support

         10  and monitor the application process of manufacturers

         11  filing for OTC approval of ECPs with the Food and

         12  Drug Administration."

         13                 While considering improved ECP

         14  access, we must keep in mind that only a slim

         15  minority of women realize that this product exists:

         16  a survey revealed that only 6 percent of women in

         17  the United States who would need emergency

         18  contraception have ever used it (up from 1 percent

         19  in 1977). Women who are aware of ECPs must locate a

         20  provider, obtain a prescription, fill it at a local

         21  pharmacy, and take the pills within 72 hours. This

         22  deleterious delay of treatment exists despite the

         23  fact that ECPs are time-sensitive, safe, and easy to

         24  self-administer.

         25                 Financial Implications of OTC-Status.
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          2                 Current Insurance Policies.

          3                 Some proponents of ECPs are

          4  apprehensive about the financial consequences of OTC

          5  status, and the potential consequences of limited

          6  access.

          7                 Achieving OTC status may potentially

          8  involve a price increase and eliminate insurance

          9  coverage, making access particularly difficult for

         10  low-income women. However, so few women of any

         11  socioeconomic status have current access to ECPs

         12  that OTC status could only benefit universal access.

         13                 Since 1973, individual states have

         14  been required to cover family-planning services for

         15  Medicaid beneficiaries. Nevertheless, only half the

         16  states currently have legislation requiring

         17  contraceptive coverage, 15 of which include

         18  exemptions for employers based on religious beliefs.

         19                 As of 2003, 23 states still do not

         20  cover emergency contraception as a family planning

         21  service under Medicaid, and four states provide only

         22  conditional, case-based coverage.

         23                 Aside from Medicaid, many private

         24  insurance plans do not cover the costs of birth

         25  control (including emergency contraception). A 2001
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          2  Kaiser Family Foundation Survey found that only 41

          3  percent of insured employees had coverage of all

          4  reversible contraceptives, despite the fact that 98

          5  percent of insured employees had coverage of

          6  prescription drugs in general.

          7                 If we shelve the issue of

          8  time-sensitivity with emergency contraceptives for

          9  the moment, these numbers alone demonstrate an

         10  enormous access barrier. They tell us that even if

         11  women could get immediate access to ECPs, few of

         12  them would have an insurance plan that covers the

         13  cost. The trick is to provide all women the benefits

         14  of OTC access without denying the financial benefits

         15  of insurance coverage.

         16                 There are two possible ways to do

         17  this.

         18                 First, although insurers do not

         19  typically pay for non-prescription medications, some

         20  state Medicaid programs have made exceptions for

         21  certain OTC contraceptives like condoms.

         22                 If ECPs were to go OTC, state

         23  governments and private insurers could theoretically

         24  maintain this option.

         25                 Second, healthcare providers could
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          2  continue to provide a prescription for women who

          3  need the financial support of insurance services.

          4                 We have seen this OTC/prescription

          5  duality with allergy medications that recently have

          6  been granted OTC status, but for which providers may

          7  still write an alternate prescription.

          8                 Upon weighing the question of

          9  insurance coverage against the possibilities for

         10  widespread access and use, the switch to OTC-status

         11  appears fully justified, especially since fiscal

         12  impacts on insurance coverage are difficult to

         13  predict.

         14                 Cost Savings of Improved Access to

         15  and use of ECPs.

         16                 We know that currently, ECP dedicated

         17  products are available to public health clinics for

         18  $4 or less per dose, while women who purchase the

         19  same medication without insurance coverage pay

         20  $18-$50. The projected commercial cost of an OTC ECP

         21  is estimated to be $25-$35, and research indicates

         22  that most women will use ECPs only once or twice

         23  each year.

         24                 While $30 for a single dose of ECPs

         25  seems rather expensive (and may even be a deterrent

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2  for repeat use), we must hold this amount against

          3  the comparatively enormous costs of either

          4  continuing a pregnancy or having an abortion.

          5                 The average cost associated with the

          6  birth of a healthy baby (including prenatal care,

          7  delivery and newborn care for a year after birth) is

          8  about $10,000, according to a 1993 special report in

          9  Business and Health. The average cost of having a

         10  medical abortion ranges from $350 to $575, and a

         11  surgical abortion, $225 to $575.

         12                 Studies in both Canada and the United

         13  States have shown that ECPs are significantly

         14  cost-saving to the payer, whether provided in

         15  advance or immediately following unprotected

         16  intercourse. Advanced provision of ECPs to American

         17  women using barrier contraceptives, spermicides,

         18  withdrawal, or periodic abstinence was particularly

         19  lucrative, saving between $263 and $498 in personal

         20  medical costs annually by averting unintended

         21  births.

         22                 Researchers conclude that increased

         23  use of ECPs could reduce the considerable medical

         24  and social costs associated with unintended

         25  pregnancy.
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          2                 In addition, the Comptroller of New

          3  York State released a cost-savings analysis of ECP

          4  provision on November 6, 2003.

          5                 His careful analysis points to a $452

          6  million savings in Medicaid and private health care

          7  spending in New York State from effective ECP

          8  provision.

          9                 The Comptroller's report thus

         10  demonstrates that ECP provision can be a significant

         11  cost-saver for government insurance plans, private

         12  insurers, and individuals.

         13                 Conclusion.

         14                 Medical decisions should be rooted

         15  firmly in scientific evidence. Research on emergency

         16  contraception - including numerous randomized

         17  trials, data on actual use, and label-comprehension

         18  studies - has revealed that prescription-only status

         19  of ECPs is both gratuitous and harmful.

         20                 Prolific research on ECPs documents

         21  their safety, efficacy, and ease-of-use, along with

         22  the economic benefits of OTC status for individuals,

         23  institutions, and public systems.

         24                 The Institute of Medicine has claimed

         25  that establishing "evidence-based" medicine should
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          2  be at the forefront of modern medicine's agenda, and

          3  has advocated in favor of aggressive efforts to

          4  reduce unintended pregnancy rates in America.

          5                 Granting OTC status to ECPs can bring

          6  the medical community one step closer to reaching

          7  both goals.

          8                 Professional and public support of

          9  the OTC switch is obvious, as more than 70

         10  organizations are signators to the 2001 Citizen's

         11  Petition for Status Change for Emergency

         12  Contraception.

         13                 Among the numerous medical and public

         14  health organizations supporting the switch are: The

         15  AMA, ACOG, the Association of Reproductive Health

         16  Professionals, the American Academy of Pediatrics,

         17  the American Medical Women's Association, the

         18  American Nurses Association, the National

         19  Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's

         20  Health, the American Public Health Association,

         21  Planned Parenthood Federation of America, the Black

         22  Women's Health Imperative, Advocates for Youth, the

         23  American Pharmaceutical Association and Physicians

         24  for Reproductive Choice and Health.

         25                 Numerous other countries currently
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          2  allow for non-prescriptive ECP provision, including

          3  Morocco, the United Kingdom, Norway, Sweden,

          4  Finland, Israel, France, Belgium, Denmark, Portugal,

          5  South Africa, Albania, and provinces within Canada.

          6                 In the past 30 years, more than 700

          7  products have been switched from prescription to OTC

          8  status in the United States.

          9                 ECPs clearly meet all requisite

         10  criteria to join their ranks. As our capacity to

         11  make scientifically-sound judgments increases, so

         12  does our responsibility to make proven safe,

         13  effective, and easy-to-use treatments available OTC

         14  to the general public.

         15                 As the nation's only physician-led

         16  organization dedicated to universal reproductive

         17  health, Physicians for Reproductive Choice and

         18  Health firmly endorses over-the-counter status of

         19  ECPs. Over-the-counter status would facilitate

         20  access for women who have experienced contraceptive

         21  failure, been sexually assaulted, or had unprotected

         22  intercourse.

         23                 Medical studies clearly demonstrate

         24  the safety and efficacy of dedicated ECP products.

         25  Considering the high unintended pregnancy rate in
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          2  America and the time-sensitive nature of ECP access,

          3  establishing OTC availability of this product is a

          4  crucial public-health imperative.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 11:50 a.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 10th day of February 2004.
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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